
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 
 
 
 
JOHN HSIEH, on behalf of himself and all 
others similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
 vs. 
 
NQ MOBILE, INC., PIPER JAFFRAY & CO., 
OPPENHEIMER & CO., INC., CANACCORD 
GENUITY INC., HENRY YU LIN, SUHAI JI,  
JAMES DING, JUN ZHANG, WEIGUO 
ZHAO, XU ZHOU, VINCENT WENYONG 
SHI, YING HAN, WILLIAM LI, XIUMING 
TAO and OMAR KHAN, 
 
  Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:  
 
CLASS ACTION 
 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR 
VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL 
SECURITIES LAWS 
 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
COMPLAINT 

John Hsieh (“Plaintiff”), by his attorneys, on behalf of himself and all others similarly 

situated, alleges the following based upon the investigation of Plaintiff’s counsel, except as to 

allegations specifically pertaining to Plaintiff, which are based on personal knowledge.  The 

investigation of counsel included, among other things, a review of NQ Mobile Inc.’s (“NQ 

Mobile” or “NQ” or the “Company”) public filings with the United States Securities and 

Exchange Commission (“SEC”), press releases issued by the Company, media, and news 

reports about the Company, and other publicly available data, including, but not limited to, 

publicly available trading data relating to the price and trading volume of NQ Mobile ADRs and 

analyst reports. 
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I. SUMMARY AND NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This action is a securities class action brought under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated 

thereunder by the SEC, and under Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the 

“Securities Act”) by Plaintiff on behalf of a class of all persons and entities who purchased 

American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”) between May 5, 2011 and October 24, 2013, inclusive 

(the “Class Period”) to recover damages caused to the Class by defendants’ violations of the 

securities laws. 

2. NQ Mobile, formerly “Netqin Mobile Inc.,” is a Cayman Islands company with 

dual headquarters in Texas and China.  Founded in 2005, NQ claims to provide mobile internet 

security services, privacy and virus protection, parental control, video games and productivity 

solutions for mobile phones. 

3. In May 2011, the Company went public with an IPO (the “IPO”) in the United 

States underwritten by three American banks.  The Company issued 7.75 million American 

Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”), representing 38.75 million Class A common shares. The ADRs 

are registered with the SEC.   

4. On October 24, 2013, research company Muddy Waters LLC issued an 81-page 

report which began, “NQ is a massive fraud.”  Among other things, Muddy Waters uncovered 

evidence that a majority of NQ’s China revenue is fraudulent; its largest customer is actually 

owned by the Company; NQ’s market share was overstated several times over; the Company’s 

most important product, its “Antivirus 7.0,” was actually spyware that made customer phones 

more susceptible to hacking; NQ is surreptitiously gathering personally identifiable information 
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from customer phones without their knowledge or consent and transmitting back to the Peoples’ 

Republic of China; and several acquisitions were actually shell companies. 

5. NQ shares plunged on the news, falling from $22.98 per share to $12.09 in one 

day.  The Company’s market capitalization fell from more than $1 billion to approximately $500 

million, wiping out approximately half a billion dollars of shareholder value in a single day.  

Trading was halted. 

6. NQ vigorously denied most of the accusations and hastily convened a conference 

call on October 25, 2013 repeating many of their earlier false statements to investors.  However, 

the denials raised more questions than they answered; the ADR price failed to fully recover.  

7. On November 3, 2013, Bloomberg News published an article confirming many of 

Muddy Waters’ accusations.  Two days later, on November 5, 2013, the Company’s own lead 

manager in the IPO, Defendant Piper Jaffray, announced it had suspended its rating on the stock.  

Erik Lam, director of Asian equity sales at Auerbach Grayson & Co., said “Obviously [the 

suspension] would cause tremendous concern, especially if it’s the IPO lead manager.”  Shares 

plunged further, closing at $9.52, and the Company’s market cap fell to $459 million.   

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. The claims asserted arise under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and 

Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder and under Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act.  

Jurisdiction is conferred by Section 27 of the Exchange Act and Section 22 of the Securities Act. 

9. Venue is proper as defendant NQ Mobile is dually headquartered in Texas and 

China and transacts business in this District.   The underwriters of NQ Mobile’s IPO conduct 

business in this District.  Defendant Canaccord maintains an office in Texas and Defendant Piper 

Jaffray maintains four.  Defendant Khan, the co-CEO of the Company, resides in Texas. 
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III. THE PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff John Hsieh (“Plaintiff”) is an adult domiciled in Scarborough, Ontario, 

Canada. 

11. Defendant NQ Mobile, formerly “Netqin Mobile Inc.,” is a Cayman Islands 

company with dual headquarters in Texas and China.  Founded in 2005, it claims to provide 

mobile internet security services, privacy and virus protection, and productivity solutions for 

mobile phones.  Its ADRs trade on the NYSE under the symbol “NQ.”  At the end of the Class 

Period, the company had more than 51 million ADRs outstanding. 

12. Defendant Piper Jaffray & Co. (“Piper Jaffray”) is an investment bank 

headquartered in Minnesota.  It served as lead underwriter and sole bookrunner for the IPO.  On 

November 5, 2013, Piper Jaffray suspended its rating of NQ Mobile ADRs.  

13. Defendant Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. (“Oppenheimer”) is an investment bank 

headquartered in New York.  Oppenheimer was an underwriter for the IPO. 

14. Defendant Canaccord Genuity Inc. (“Canaccord”) is an investment bank 

headquartered in New York.  Canaccord was an underwriter for the IPO. 

15. Defendant Henry Yu Lin (“Lin”) is a co-founder of the Company and has been 

the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer at all relevant times.  

Among other things, Lin signed the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with 

the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 15, 2011 and as 

amended as Amendment No. 4 to the Form F-1 on April 20, 2011 (the “Registration Statement”). 

16. Defendant Xu Zhou (“Zhou”) is a co-founder of the Company and has been a 

member of the Board of Directors at all relevant times.  He signed the Registration Statement. 
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17. Defendant Vincent Wenyong Shi (“Shi”) is a co-founder of the Company and has 

been a member of the Board of Directors at all relevant times.  He signed the Registration 

Statement. 

18. Defendant Suhai Ji (“Ji”) was the Company’s Chief Financial Officer from 

November 2010 until September 2013.  Ji signed the Registration Statement. 

19. Defendant James Ding (“Ding”) has been a member of the Board of Directors at 

all relevant times and signed the Registration Statement.  He serves as chair of the Company’s 

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee. 

20. Defendant Jun Zhang (“Zhang”) has been a member of the Board of Directors at 

all relevant times and signed the Registration Statement.  He is chair of the Company’s 

Compensation Committee and sits on the Company’s Audit Committee and Corporate 

Governance and Nominating Committee. 

21. Defendant Weiguo Zhao (“Zhao”) was a member of the Board of Directors of the 

Company and signed the Registration Statement. 

22. Defendant Yin Han (“Han”) has been a member of the Board of Directors at all 

relevant times and signed the Registration Statement.  He is chair of the Company’s Audit 

Committee and sits on the Company’s Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance and 

Nominating Committee. 

23. Defendant Xiuming Tao (“Tao”) is a member of the Board of Directors of the 

Company and a member of the Company’s Compensation Committee. 

24. Defendant William Li (“Li”) is a member of the Board of Directors of the 

Company and a member of the Company’s Audit Committee. 
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25. Defendant Omar Khan (“Khan”) has been the Company’s US-based co-CEO 

since January 2012.  He is also a member of the Board of Directors of the Company. 

26. The investment banks named as defendants in ¶¶ 12-14 are referred to herein as 

the “Underwriter Defendants.” 

27. The defendants named in ¶¶ 11-22 are referred to herein as the “Section 11 

Defendants.” 

28. The individuals named as defendants in ¶¶ 15-25 are referred to herein as the 

“Individual Defendants.”  The Individual Defendants, because of their positions with the 

Company, possessed the power and authority to control the contents of NQ Mobile’s SEC 

filings, press releases and presentations to securities analysts, money and portfolio managers and 

institutional investors, i.e., the market.  Because of their positions and access to material non-

public information available to them but not to the public, each of these defendants knew that the 

adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to and were being concealed from the 

public and that the positive representations which were being made were then materially false 

and misleading. 

IV. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

29. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(3) on behalf of a class of all persons and entities who purchased NQ 

Mobile ADRs between May 5, 2011 and October 24, 2013, inclusive, including persons or 

entities who purchased NQ Mobile ADRs pursuant and/or traceable to the Company’s materially 

false and misleading Registration Statement and Prospectus dated May 5, 2011 which 

incorporated by reference the Registration Statement (the “Class”). 
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30. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  While the exact number of Class members is unknown to plaintiff at the present 

time and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, plaintiff believes that there are 

hundreds if not thousands of members of the Class located throughout the United States.  As of 

the end of the Class Period, NQ had over 51 million ADRs outstanding, 7.75 million of which 

were issued in the IPO alone. 

31. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class.  Plaintiff 

and all members of the Class have sustained damages because of defendants’ unlawful activities 

alleged herein.  Plaintiff has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities 

litigation and intends to pursue this action vigorously.  The interests of the Class will be fairly 

and adequately protected by plaintiff.  Plaintiff has no interests which are contrary to or in 

conflict with those of the Class that plaintiff seeks to represent. 

32. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy.  Plaintiff knows of no difficulty to be encountered in the 

management of this action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action. 

33. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

 (a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants’ acts and 

omissions as alleged herein; 

 (b) whether defendants misstated and/or omitted to state material facts in their 

public statements and filings with the SEC; 
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 (c) whether defendants participated directly or indirectly in the course of 

conduct complained of herein; and 

 (d) whether the members of the Class have sustained damages and the proper 

measure of such damages.  

V. FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS 

34. NQ overstated its market share more than 20-fold.  In the Company’s May 5, 

2011 IPO Prospectus (incorporating by reference the Registration Statement), NQ told investors 

it commanded 67% of the “mobile security marketplace” in China (the country that accounts for 

the majority of its reported revenues).  In the subsequent 2012 financials reported on Form 20-F, 

this number was revised down to 55%.  However, Muddy Waters discovered that the real 

number is 1.5%, and the Company’s true paying user base is only 250,000.   

35. 90% of NQ’s revenues do not exist.  Based on the market share figures, actual 

security app revenues would actually be $2.5 million, not $32.2 million NQ disclosed to 

investors in its March 2013 investor presentation.  In addition, NQ’s supposed largest customer 

(accounting for more than half of NQ’s total revenue) is actually a shell company related to NQ 

called Yidatong (“YDT”).  Evidence of YDT’s fictitious status is striking: 

 NQ told investors that YDT is an independent “Service Provider” 

payments processor, and also said in the Prospectus that the principal 

shareholder of YDT (Ms. Rong Xu) merely consulted for NQ in 2006 

and 2007.  On October 25, 2013, however, NQ admitted that Ms. Xu had 

been an employee through August 2008 – in fact, she was NQ’s director 

of marketing – and this role overlapped with her ownership of YDT by 

two years, making the companies “related.” 
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 From Ms. Xu’s modest employee position, she was somehow able to 

acquire 75% of a company that quickly accounted for half of all 

revenues for her former employer. 

 All but one of the addresses provided by YDT either do not exist or do 

not have any YDT employees; the one address with actual employees 

was discovered by Bloomberg News to be shared space with another 

company owned by Ms. Xu (called “9-H”) and when the Bloomberg 

reporter visited the site, the 9-H receptionist had never heard of YDT. 

 YDT’s emails are hosted by NQ. 

 YDT received a $5 million interest-free loan from NQ which accounts 

for all actual revenues found by Muddy Waters above. 

36. NQ’s most important product is a mobile security program that actually 

makes the customer’s mobile phone less secure.  NQ Mobile started as a mobile phone 

security company, and its most important product is its mobile security and antivirus application. 

Muddy Waters engaged a team of engineers and determined that the product: 

 Collects sensitive customer data and sends it to the Company in China; 

 Lacks basic safeguards to prevent hacking; 

 Includes the encryption key with the data it is encrypting (“which is akin 

to leaving the key hanging out of a safe” in the words of Muddy 

Waters); and 

 Always tells customers upon installation that it discovered two new 

viruses; the only reports of these two particular “viruses” appear in NQ 
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press releases and have never been confirmed to actually exist by anyone 

else. 

37. Bloomberg News hired its own experts to test Muddy Waters’ accusations and 

confirmed them on November 3, 2013; in fact, additional problems were identified.  For 

example, Bloomberg’s experts determined that the product “has poor security leading to leaked 

sensitive data.”  Worse, the “app does appear to generate fake virus alerts.”  The Bloomberg 

experts “also found indications that [the NQ product] sends contacts and contents of text 

messages back to the company, ‘a serious privacy concern.’”  Another expert consulted by 

Bloomberg said “You wouldn’t expect that in a security application.” 

38. The DSO mismatch.  DSO stands for “daily sales outstanding” and is a way to 

measure the delay in getting customers to pay.  NQ told investors in the Prospectus and in its 

2012 Form 20-F that its two largest customers in China (together accounting for more than half 

of reported revenues) have contracts requiring settlement within 30 days.  Because there was no 

disclosure of any serious problems with settlement, NQ’s DSO should thus be less than 30 days 

for these customers.  Another customer, China Mobile, is required to pay NQ within 15 days of 

the end of any calendar month (as disclosed in NQ’s 2011 20-F, exhibit 10.13), meaning DSO 

should be between 15 and 45 days. This would be consistent with business practice in China: for 

example, Bloomberg News reported on November 3, 2013 that Qihoo 360 Technology Co., 

operator of China’s second-largest search engine and maker of a mobile security app that 

competes with NQ, had a DSO figure of 22.4 days in 2012.  Another competitor (Tencent 

Holdings Ltd.) measured 18.2.  Muddy Waters estimated, however, that NQ’s actual DSO figure 

is a stunning 198 days, or more than half a year.  On October 25, 2013, NQ finally admitted it 

had a DSO problem, but claimed DSO was “only” 145 days.  Data compiled by Bloomberg for 
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its November 3 report show DSO at 144 days.  This was the first time a DSO problem was 

communicated to investors. 

39. NQ Mobile Used the IPO Proceeds to Purchase Shell Companies.  NQ Mobile 

acquired several companies after the IPO in transactions valued at approximately $375 million in 

cash and stock when in fact the companies had little or no real value; Muddy Waters accused NQ 

of using these sham acquisitions to funnel money out of the Company and/or to create fake 

revenues.  

VI. ADDITIONAL SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS 

40. As alleged herein, NQ Mobile and the individual defendants acted with scienter in 

that they knew that the public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of 

and by the Company were materially false and misleading; knew that such statements or 

documents would be issued or disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and 

substantially participated or acquiesced in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or 

documents as primary violations of the federal securities laws.  Defendants, by virtue of their 

receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding NQ Mobile, their control over, and/or 

receipt and/or modification of the Company’s allegedly materially misleading misstatements 

and/or their associations with the Company which made them privy to confidential proprietary 

information concerning NQ Mobile, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein. 

41. Defendants knew or recklessly disregarded the falsity and misleading nature of 

the information which they caused to be disseminated to the investing public. The ongoing 

fraudulent scheme described in this complaint could not have been perpetrated over a substantial 

period of time, as has occurred, without the knowledge and complicity of the personnel at the 

highest level of the Company, including the Individual Defendants.  Defendants had the motive 
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and opportunity to perpetrate the fraudulent scheme and course of business described herein 

because the Individual Defendants were the most senior officers of the Company, issued 

statements and press releases on behalf of the Company and had the opportunity to commit the 

fraud alleged herein. Further, Defendants were motivated to commit the fraud alleged in order to 

complete two public offerings of Company shares at inflated prices during the Class Period. 

42. The Company’s false statements with respect to DSO are particularly 

troublesome.  James Angel, a finance professor at Georgetown University, told Bloomberg News 

that a high DSO “sounds to me like a red flag with a siren going off . . . . This is one of the 

classic signs of fraud.  You can easily manufacture sales with the stroke of a pen, but if you don’t 

have cash, what you have is a receivable.” 

43. Likewise, David Bassett, a forensic accountant, when asked to comment on the 

recent revelations about NQ’s DSO problem, said “[a]ccounts-receivable balances that dwarf the 

stated payment terms, that’s always a red flag, it always increases the risk of fraud or 

misstatement.” 

VII. LOSS CAUSATION/ECONOMIC LOSS 

44. During the Class Period, as detailed herein, defendants engaged in a scheme to 

deceive the market and a course of conduct that artificially inflated NQ’s ADR price and 

operated as a fraud or deceit on Class Period purchasers of NQ’s ADRs by misrepresenting the 

Company’s operating condition and future business prospects.  Defendants achieved this by 

failing to disclose, among other things, that the Company was its own largest customer; that 

perhaps 90% of its revenues are fictitious; and that its most important product (“Antivirus 7.0”) 

is actually spyware.  Later, however, when defendants’ prior misrepresentations were disclosed 

by Muddy Waters and became apparent to the market, the price of the ADRs fell precipitously as 
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the prior artificial inflation came out of the price. The ADR price fell further when independent 

research confirmed many of Muddy Waters’ accusations and the lead manager of the Company’s 

IPO suspended ratings on the Company.  As a result of their purchases of NQ ADRs during the 

Class Period, plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered economic loss, i.e., damages 

under the federal securities laws.  

VIII. FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE 

45. At all relevant times, the market for NQ Mobile’s ADRs was an efficient market 

for the following reasons, among others: 

 (a) The Company’s ADRs are actively traded on the NYSE; 

 (b) As a regulated issuer, the Company filed periodic public reports 

with the SEC;  

 (c) The Company was covered regularly by securities analysts; and 

 (d)  The Company regularly issued press releases which were carried 

by national news wires.  Each of these releases was publicly available and 

entered the public marketplace. 

46. As a result, the market for the Company’s common stock promptly digested 

current information with respect to NQ Mobile from all publicly available sources and reflected 

such information in the price of the Company’s ADR’s.  Under these circumstances, all 

purchasers of the Company’s ADR’s during the Class Period suffered similar injury through 

their purchase of the ADR’s of NQ Mobile at artificially inflated prices and a presumption of 

reliance applies. 

Case 2:13-cv-01048   Document 1   Filed 12/02/13   Page 13 of 23 PageID #:  13



14 

IX. NO SAFE HARBOR 

47. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain 

circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pled in this complaint.  

Many of the specific statements pleaded herein were not identified as “forward-looking 

statements” when made.  To the extent there were any forward-looking statements, there were no 

meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to 

differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking statements. Alternatively, to the 

extent that the statutory safe harbor does apply to any forward-looking statements pleaded 

herein, defendants are liable for those false forward-looking statements because at the time each 

of those forward-looking statements was made, the particular speaker knew that the particular 

forward looking statement was false, and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized and/or 

approved by an executive officer of NQ Mobile who knew that those statements were false when 

made. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

For Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act 
and Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder 

Against NQ Mobile and the Individual Defendants 
 

48. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above. 

49. During the Class Period, defendants disseminated or approved the false 

statements specified above, which they knew or deliberately recklessly disregarded were 

materially false and misleading in that they contained material misrepresentations and failed to 

disclose material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

Case 2:13-cv-01048   Document 1   Filed 12/02/13   Page 14 of 23 PageID #:  14



15 

50. Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 in that 

they: 

(a) Employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; 

(b) Made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts 

necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the circumstances 

under which they were made not misleading; or 

(c) Engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business that operated as a 

fraud or deceit upon plaintiff and others similarly situated in connection 

with their purchases of NQ Mobile ADRs during the Class Period. 

51. Plaintiff and the Class have suffered damages in that, in reliance on the integrity 

of the market, they paid artificially inflated prices for NQ’s ADRs.  Plaintiff and the Class would 

not have purchased NQ Mobile ADRs at the prices they paid, or at all, if they had been aware 

that the market prices had been artificially and falsely inflated by defendants’ misleading 

statements. 

52. As a direct and proximate result of these defendants’ wrongful conduct, plaintiff 

and the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of NQ 

Mobile ADRs during the Class Period. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

For Violation of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act 
Against the Individual Defendants 

 
53. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above. 

54. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of the Company within 

the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein.  By virtue of their high-level 

positions, participation in and/or awareness of the Company’s operations and/or intimate 
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knowledge of the statements filed by the Company with the SEC and disseminated to the 

investing public, the Individual Defendants had the power to influence and control and did 

influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of the Company, including the 

content and dissemination of the various statements which plaintiff contends are false and 

misleading.  The Individual Defendants were provided with or had unlimited access to copies of 

the Company’s reports, press releases, public filings and other statements alleged by plaintiff to 

be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and had the ability to 

prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be corrected. 

55. In particular, the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in 

the day-to-day operations of the Company either as directors or executive officers and, therefore, 

are presumed to have had the power to control or influence the particular transactions giving rise 

to the securities violations as alleged herein, and exercised the same. 

56. As set forth above, NQ Mobile and the Individual Defendants each violated 

Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by their acts and omissions as alleged in this Complaint.  By virtue 

of their positions each as a controlling person, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to 

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.  As a direct and proximate result of NQ Mobile’s and the 

Individual Defendants’ wrongful conduct, plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered 

damages in connection with their purchases of the Company’s ADRs during the Class Period. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act Against the Section 11 Defendants 
 

57. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above, 

except for any allegations sounding in fraud or intentional or reckless misconduct. 
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58. This Count is brought pursuant to Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§77k, on behalf of the Class, against NQ Mobile, the Underwriter Defendants, and the 

individuals who signed the Registration Statement (together, the “Section 11 Defendants”). 

59. The Registration Statement was inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue 

statements of material facts, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements 

made not misleading, and omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein. 

60. NQ Mobile is the issuer.  As issuer of the ADRs, NQ Mobile is strictly liable 

to Plaintiff and to the members of the Class who purchased pursuant and/or traceable to the 

Registration Statement for the materially untrue statements and omissions alleged herein.    

61. The Individual Defendants were officers and/or directors of NQ Mobile and 

signed the Registration Statement or authorized it to be signed on their behalf and were 

responsible for the contents and dissemination of the Registration Statement. 

62. By reasons of the conduct herein alleged, each defendant violated, and/or 

controlled a person who violated, Section 11 of the 1933 Act. 

63. Plaintiff and the Class purchased NQ Mobile ADRs pursuant and/or traceable 

to the Registration Statement and sustained damages thereby. The value of NQ Mobile ADRs 

has declined substantially subsequent to and due to defendants’ violations.  

64. At the time of their purchases of NQ ADRs, Plaintiff and other members of the 

Class were without knowledge of the facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein 

and could not have reasonably discovered each of those facts prior to November 4, 2013.  

65. This claim was brought within the applicable statute of limitations. 
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violations of Section 12 of the Securities 
Act Against NQ Mobile and the Underwriter Defendants 

 
66. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above, 

except for any allegations sounding in fraud or intentional or reckless misconduct. 

67. This Count is brought pursuant to Section 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act, 15 

U.S.C. §77(a)(2), on behalf of the Class, against NQ and the Underwriter Defendants. 

68. NQ and the Underwriter Defendants were sellers and offerors and/or solicitor of 

purchasers of the ADRs offered pursuant to the May 5, 2011 Prospectus, which incorporated by 

reference the Registration Statement. 

69. As set forth above, the Prospectus (including the Registration Statement 

incorporated by reference therein) contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted to state 

other facts necessary to make the statements made therein not misleading, and omitted to state 

material facts required to be stated therein.   NQ and the Underwriter Defendants’ actions of 

solicitation included preparing the inaccurate and misleading Prospectus and participating in 

efforts to market the IPO to investors. 

70. NQ and the Underwriter Defendants owed to the purchasers of NQ ADRs the 

duty to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the statements contained in the 

Prospectus to ensure that such statements were accurate and that they did not contain any 

misstatement or omission of material fact.  NQ and the Underwriter Defendants, in the exercise 

of reasonable care, should have known that the Prospectus contained misstatements and 

omissions of material fact. 

71. Plaintiff and the other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired NQ 

Mobile ADRs pursuant to the Registration Statement, and neither plaintiff nor the other Class 
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members knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence could have known, of the untruths, 

inaccuracies and omissions contained in the Prospectus. 

72. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, hereby offers to tender to NQ 

and the Underwriter Defendants those ADRs that plaintiff and the other Class members continue 

to own, in return for the consideration paid for those shares together with interest thereon.  Class 

members who have sold their ADRs are entitled to recissory damages. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violations of Section 15 of the Securities Act 
Against the Individual Defendants Except Li, Tao and Khan 

 
73. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above 

except for any allegations sounding in fraud or intentional or reckless misconduct. 

74. This Count is brought pursuant to §15 of the Securities Act against the 

Individual Defendants except Li, Tao and Khan (the “Section 15 Defendants”). 

75. The Section 15 Defendants were each a control person of NQ Mobile at the 

time of the IPO by virtue of his position as a director and/or senior officer of the Company.  

76. As a control person of NQ Mobile, the Section 15 Defendants are liable jointly 

and severally with and to the same extent as NQ Mobile for its violation of Sections 11 and 12 

of the Securities Act. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment as follows: declaring this action to be a 

proper class action; awarding rescission and/or damages, including interest; awarding 

reasonable costs, including attorney fees; and such equitable/injunctive relief as deemed proper.   
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 

DATED:   December 2, 2013 
  Texarkana, Texas 
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
By:     /s/  George L. McWilliams   
George L. McWilliams 
Texas Bar No. 13877000 
LAW OFFICES OF GEORGE L. 
MCWILLIAMS, P.C. 
P.O. Box 58 
Texarkana, Texas-Arkansas 75504 
Tel: (870) 772-2055 
Fax: (870) 772-0513 
Email: glmlawoffice@gmail.com 
 
Matt Keil 
Texas Bar No. 11181750 
Arkansas Bar No. 86099 
John C. Goodson 
Arkansas Bar No. 90018 
KEIL &GOODSON P.A. 
406 Walnut Street 
Texarkana, Arkansas 71854 
Tel: (870) 772-4113 
Fax: (870) 773-2967 
Email: mkeil@kglawfirm.com 
Email: jcgoodson@kglawfirm.com 

 
 
 
 
 

  
Frederic S. Fox 
Donald R. Hall 
David A. Straite 
KAPLAN FOX & KILSHEIMER LLP 
850 Third Avenue 
New York, NY 10022 
Telephone:  212-687-1980 
Facsimile:  212-687-7714 
Email: ffox@kaplanfox.com 
Email: dhall@kaplanfox.com 
Email: dstraite@kaplanfox.com 
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Marc A. Wites 
WITES & KAPETAN, P.A. 
4400 North Federal Highway 
Lighthouse Point, FL  33064 
Telephone:  954-570-8989 
Facsimile:  954-354-0205 
Email: mwites@wklawyers.com 
 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
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and
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IV.  NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only)
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FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

JOHN HSIEH, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated,

Scarborough, Ontario, Can

George L. Williams, Law Offices of George L. McWilliams, P.C.,
P.O. Box 58, Texarkana, Texas-Arkansas 75504
Telephone: 870-772-2055

NQ MOBILE, INC., PIPER JAFFRAY & CO., OPPENHEIMER & CO.,
INC., CANACCORD GENUITY INC., HENRY YU LIN, SUHAI JI,
JAMES DING, JUN ZHANG, WEIGUO

Dallas County, Texas

Sections 10(b), 20(a) & Rule 10b-5 of 1934 Exchange Act; Sections 11, 12(a)(2) &15 of 1933 Securities Act

12/02/2013 /s/ George L. McWilliams
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